Minnesota Health Care Accountability Act

SF2939 (Mann) / HF2779 (Reyer)

Across Minnesota, rapid system consolidation has led to skyrocketing health care costs and service reductions that limit people's access to care. Increased private equity takeovers and corporate interference in medicine harms patients and medical professionals.

Why Minnesota needs the Health Care Accountability Act:

While Minnesotans spend a record \$66 billion per year on health care, we need the Health Care Accountability Act to:

- Understand how corporate ownership is impacting care costs and access. Minnesota needs transparency requirements to understand the complex web of healthcare ownership and assets and how vertical integration and private equity takeovers impact care costs, consolidation, closures, and access to care.
- Protect patients and medical professionals. Outdated laws and loopholes allow private investors in health care to make profit-driven medical decisions affecting care quality, service delivery, and access.
- Rein in out-of-control health care costs. Rising health care costs hurt all of us. The state needs tools to address profiteering, monopoly power, and corporate interference in medicine that are driving up costs and reducing care access and quality.

How does consolidation impact health care costs and access?

- Health care spending is rising due to higher prices, not increased use of services and consolidation is a key driver of those rising costs. [1]
- As large hospital or health care systems merge or buy previously independent clinics like labs, primary care practices, and imaging centers, consolidated systems increasingly have the market power to raise prices and limit services without competition.
- Minnesota has taken important steps to strengthen oversight of health care mergers. However, the state needs transparency around the opaque web of ownership and financial backing and protections against the harms of consolidation, private equity, and other investors driving up costs and limiting access to care.

Minnesota needs the Health Care Accountability Act to address consolidation in health care, private equity takeovers, and corporate interference in medicine.

KEY FACTS

- Health system consolidation leads to increased prices for care services-up to 65% more-and often to decreased services in rural areas. Private equity investments in health care lead to up to 32% higher costs for patients and payers. [2]
- In Greater Minnesota, rural communities are facing a severe shortage of primary care providers, surgery service declines, and average drive times over an hour for mental health, maternity/neonatal services, and surgery. [3]
- In Minnesota, 45% of rural hospitals no longer provide labor and delivery services. Twelve counties lost hospital birth services between 2012 and 2022. [4]
- Half a million Minnesotans live in a pharmacy desert. Nearly 70% of independently owned pharmacies have been driven out of business in the last two decades. [5]
- ♦ As growing health care costs raise premiums, 18% of adults reported a claim denial by their insurance company in the past year. [6]
- 1 in 5 medical professionals in Minnesota reported plans to leave their field in the next five years, often citing burnout. [7]

Minnesotans spent a **record \$66.8 billion on health care** in 2022, a 15% increase from the previous year due to price spikes. [8]

[1] Trends in health care spending, American Medical Association, July 2024.

[2] Hospital Mergers and Healthcare Price Increases: A Primer, Association of Health Care Journalists, September 2024; Ten Things to Know About Consolidation in Health Care Provider Markets, KFF, April 2024 and New findings show private equity investments in healthcare may not lower costs or improve quality of care, University of Chicago Medicine, July 2023.

- [4] Nearly half of Minnesota's rural hospitals don't offer labor and delivery, Axios Twin Cities, January 2024.
- [5] More Minnesotans face 'pharmacy deserts' with chain drugstore closures, Star Tribune, November 2024.
- [6] Consumer Survey Highlights Problems with Denied Health Insurance Claims, KFF, September 2023.
- [7] Minnesota's Health Care Workforce, MDH, 2022.
- [8] Prices for medical care surged in Minnesota. Here's what the state is trying to do about it, Star Tribune, December 2024.











^[3] Rural Health Care in Minnesota: Data Highlights, Minnesota Dept. of Health, November 2023.



April 7, 2025

Professional Distinction	Co-Chair Bierman and Co-Chair Backer Minnesota House of Representatives, Health Finance and Policy Committee 75 Rev. Dr. Martin Luther Dr. Jr. Blvd. St. Paul, MN 55155			
Personal Dignity	Dear Co-Chairs Bierman and Backer and Members of the Committee,			
Patient Advocacy	On behalf of the Minnesota Nurses Association (MNA), I am writing to express our strong support for HF2779, the Health Care Accountability Act (HCAA), which would provide for more transparent reporting of who controls and benefits from our state's healthcare delivery system. By addressing existing loopholes in annual reporting of some information to MDH, more information can be provided to the Legislature and public about where money is being wasted that could instead be used to provide care for Minnesotans. In addition to closing reporting loopholes to better reflect the structure of the current healthcare landscape, this bill also safeguards our healthcare system and infrastructure by creating new statutory language prohibiting the corporate practice of medicine.			
	Last biennium, MNA supported a number of legislative proposals focused on financial transparency and addressing healthcare consolidation, several of which became law. This legislation builds on some of those same themes – supporting the notion that our publicly-funded healthcare system requires information to be transparent and accessible to the public, and that our entire state healthcare delivery system should be accountable to patients, communities, and taxpayers. The existing reporting structures in place have not kept pace with the changing nature of healthcare service delivery, including the fact that most Minnesota hospitals are now owned and operated by large corporations who often have various subsidiary or affiliated entities with shared financial interests. This bill would help illuminate data that is now unavailable due to the further corporatization and growth of large healthcare corporations. This is precisely the type of data that the Legislature and public needs if we are ever going to tackle the various sources of waste, fraud, abuse, and senseless profiteering that lead to access and affordability issues in our healthcare systems.			
	Whether it is behavioral health services in the Metro, or Labor and Delivery in Greater Minnesota, vital healthcare services are often on the chopping block in our state. Please support this legislation so we can begin to start collecting the information necessary to determine a new way forward – one that prioritizes patients before profits. This bill is a huge step forward in that direction, and we hope to see it garner bipartisan support.			
345 Randolph Avenue Suite 200 St. Paul, MN 55102 Tel: 651.414.2800 800.536.4662 Fax: 651.695.7000 Email: mnnurses@mnnurses.org Web: www.mnnurses.org	Sincerely, Shannon Cunningham Director of Governmental and Community Relations Minnesota Nurses Association			
AFL-CIO				



Code Blue:

How Allina Health's Financial Ties Compromised its Mission, Patient Care, and Business

Executive Summary

As Allina Health has surrendered greater control to for-profit companies like Piper Sandler, UnitedHealth Group, Huron Consulting Group, and Flare Capital Partners, they have become less accountable to their community and more beholden to the market and the financial executives who sit on the board, with impacts to their workers, patients, and the business.

Impact on Workers and Patients:

- **Short Staffing:** Assisted by Huron, Allina has recently undergone aggressive staffing "benchmarking" across its facilities, with a stated ambition of staffing their units at the 40th percentile based on national estimates. Nurses allege Allina is engaged in a race to the bottom when it comes to patient care.
- Questionable Changes to Patient Care Model: Inbound Health a joint venture between Allina Health and the investment firm Flare Capital Partners offers controversial hospitalat-home and skilled nursing-at-home programs that would move sick patients back home without around-the-clock nursing care, burdening family members, replacing skilled professionals, and potentially putting these patients at risk.
- More Contracted Staff: As the percentage of board members with experience in financial services, insurance, and real estate (FIRE) industries increased from under a third in 2012 to nearly sixty percent in 2022, labor costs for contracted employees hired to provide direct patient care (e.g., Registered Nurses, Licensed Professional Nurses, etc.) increased by over two thousand percent. Whereas these contract staff comprised just one percent of the total direct patient care labor cost in 2012, ten years later they represented nearly fourteen percent.
- **More Outsourcing:** On February 1, 2024, Allina Health announced their plans to outsource approximately 2,000 of their Information Systems and Revenue Cycle Management employees to Optum Health, a division of UnitedHealth Group.

More Debt, Worse Credit, More Profits for Piper Sandler:

• From 1998 to 2023, as the percentage of board members with ties to FIRE industries increased from 36% to 54.5%, Allina Health's debt ballooned to \$1.7 billion, while its credit rating dropped from AAA to AA-. With Allina's board led by Debbra Schoneman, a Piper Sandler executive whose investment bank earned \$5.2 million in fees along with other bond underwriters, one might ask, *"Who is profiting from the increased debt load that has sunk Allina's rating?"*

Table of Contents

Executive Summary	1
Introduction	3
Part I: The Decisionmakers Behind Minnesotans' Healthcare	4
Allina Health System	4
Allina's Board Composition	5
Piper Sandler and Minnesota Healthcare	6
Piper Sandler and Allina Health	8
Part II: The Growing Influence of FIRE in Minnesota Healthcare	9
Optum and UnitedHealth Group	9
Huron Consulting Group1	1
Flare Capital Partners 1	1
Part III: Corporate Healthcare Does Not Work 1	2
Conclusion	4
Endnotes 1	5

Introduction

In the past century, Minnesota's healthcare landscape has undergone a rapid transformation. Whereas most community hospitals were historically charitable institutions dedicated to the sick and indigent, today's hospitals increasingly belong to large systems and wield their market power to extract higher prices from patients and insurers.¹ Driven less and less by social values, healthcare has become increasingly profit-driven, due in part to the growing influence of the financial sector. Hospital executives today push agendas familiar to the rest of corporate America: cutting labor costs, closing "underperforming" service lines, hospitals, and clinics, and pursuing mergers and acquisitions to enter lucrative markets. These changes continue to reshape the delivery, accessibility, and quality of healthcare throughout the nation.

Access to high-quality, affordable healthcare is under ever more threat in Minnesota despite the fact that nearly all hospitals in the state are organized as "nonprofits."² As individual healthcare spending has grown more than 18 percent between 2017 and 2021, so too have prices – by nearly 9 percent.³ In 2023, the Minnesota Department of Health noted: "If health care spending grows unchecked, it will remove even more funds from the community, leaving fewer resources for other priorities."⁴ With hospitals representing the greatest share of healthcare spending in the state,⁵ it is essential to understand what is driving these trends. This report examines one of those factors – the increasing entanglement of the financial sector in healthcare.

As spending and prices have increased, Minnesota hospital executives at the largest health systems – Allina, Mayo Clinic, Essentia, Fairview, North Memorial, and Sanford, among others – have cut or reduced services and closed hospitals,⁶ requiring patients to travel farther for necessary care. Threatened and realized mergers and acquisitions have reduced patients' options for providers; academic research consistently concludes that consolidation leads to increased prices with little to no improvement in quality.⁷ Promises of cost reduction and efficiencies have provided little solace to patients, workers, and communities as concerns about the prioritization of profits over patient care, reduced accessibility for vulnerable populations, and the erosion of community control bubbled up in recent years.

The unique characteristics that made Minnesota a destination for medical care are changing, as healthcare decisions are increasingly made by those who never worked at the bedside. Today, financial institutions and healthcare are mutually reliant. Hospital systems call upon a network of lenders, underwriters, corporate trustees, and advisors to assist in strategic partnerships and transactions.

Healthcare is also big business for financial institutions. Minnesota-based investment bank Piper Sandler recently reminded investors: "Both the healthcare and financial services sectors are significant contributors to our overall results, and negative developments in either of these sectors, including negative developments that result from legislative or regulatory actions, could negatively affect our results of operations, even when general economic conditions are strong."⁸ While financial institutions may bring needed capital and outside perspective to drive innovation and growth, these executives too often come with a focus on short-term profitability and cost-cutting. While this trend is pervasive across the nation, Allina Health is the poster child in Minnesota for the growing creep of non-healthcare executives influencing decisions at the bedside. In the past decade, Allina has demonstrated a record of putting profits before patients: reducing and closing services,⁹ shifting services from the hospital to more profitable outpatient sites,¹⁰ spending millions to break a strike,¹¹ and up until June 2023 cutting off services to patients who had accrued at least \$4,500 in outstanding bills.¹²

In Part I, we survey two interconnected players influencing patient care, Allina Health System and Piper Sandler. In Part II, we provide three case studies on the growing corporate influence in local healthcare at Allina and other major health systems. In Part III, we analyze how the profit-driven approach of executives has failed in large part. We conclude with recommendations to shift Allina's values to make it a community-centered and truly charitable institution.

Part I: The Decisionmakers Behind Minnesotans' Healthcare

Allina Health System

Headquartered in Minneapolis, MN Allina Health System ("Allina Health") is a \$5.2 billion nonprofit integrated healthcare delivery network primarily serving the greater Twin Cities metro area and western Wisconsin.¹³ Allina Health owns 11 hospital campuses – Abbott Northwestern Hospital (Minneapolis, MN), Buffalo Hospital (Buffalo, MN), Cambridge Medical Center (Cambridge, MN), District One Hospital (Faribault, MN), Mercy Hospital (Coon Rapids/Fridley, MN), New Ulm Medical Center (New Ulm, MN), Owatonna Hospital (Owatonna, MN), River Falls Area Hospital (River Falls, WI), United Hospital (St. Paul/Hastings, MN) – and jointly owns St. Francis Regional Medical Center with Essentia Health and Park Nicollet Health Services, a HealthPartners subsidiary.¹⁴ Allina providers also see patients at more than 60 primary care clinics and 20 sameday and urgent care centers.¹⁵

Allina is one of the largest systems in the state, operating 2,451 acute care beds as of December 31, 2023,¹⁶ and comprising 17% of patient days in 2022, second only to Fairview Health Services,¹⁷ its primary competitor. Allina's size requires an enormous labor force - over 29,000 employees, making it one of the largest employers in the state.¹⁸

Though healthcare consolidation has become a recent topic of intense debate and legislation in Minnesota, it is not a new phenomenon. Allina was born out of a series of mergers beginning in the 1970s, which resulted in the formation of HealthSpan Health Systems Corporation in 1993.¹⁹ As with recent mergers, this transaction was scrutinized by community groups as well as regulators, including Attorney General Hubert Humphrey III and the Minnesota Department of Health (MDH).²⁰ The deal was ultimately given conditional approval, though after 1997 HealthSpan no longer had to report on the merger's benefits to consumers.²¹

Following legislation in 1993 that encouraged the development of integrated service networks, HealthSpan affiliated with Medica, one of the largest health plans in Minnesota.

HealthSpan evolved into Allina Health System and Medica became a wholly controlled subsidiary.²² By the end of the 20th century, Allina oversaw Medica's 550,000 enrollees and 5,000 physicians, as well as HealthSpan's 17 hospitals and long-term care facilities, and 45 medical clinics.²³

However, this iteration of Allina would not last long. Controversy appeared to follow the new company left and right: a federal review found that Medica misspent Medicare money (Allina was required to repay \$16 million);²⁴ an investigation by Attorney General Mike Hatch uncovered millions spent on executive perks and corporate consultants²⁵ (Allina reportedly spent hundreds of thousands on public relations to have positive stories written about the health system in light of the allegations).²⁶ Under pressure from the Attorney General alleging conflicts of interest, Allina and Medica split into two independent companies, though executives claimed the decision was their own.²⁷ This is the Allina we know today.

Allina's Board Composition

The composition of a company board speaks volumes about its priorities. This is even more true for nonprofit organizations, which are ostensibly organized for a purpose other than simply making a profit. While it would be easy to assume a health system tasked with delivering patient care would seek out a board comprised of healthcare experts to help set the organization's direction, hire a CEO, navigate legal complexities, and oversee quality and safety, this is largely not the case. A recent study found that less than 15 percent of board members overseeing the nation's top hospitals have a professional background in healthcare, whereas more than half have a background in finance or business services.²⁸ Nurses, essential to the daily operation of a hospital, comprise less than one percent of board members at these elite institutions.²⁹

Allina's board reflects these trends. Of its twenty-two members, eleven have some experience working in healthcare.³⁰ Fewer still - four - have direct patient care experience. The financial services, insurance, and real estate sector ("FIRE") is overrepresented relative to other industries, with nearly fifty-five percent of board members working for banks, investment firms, accounting, insurance, and related companies.³¹

However, this was not always the case. Just a few years after Allina was organized, seventytwo percent of the board had healthcare experience, perhaps a reflection of bylaws allowing up to fifty percent of directors to be physicians.³² Around a third worked in financial services and related industries. Allina's bylaws, then as now, required that a majority of voting members must be "independent civil leaders," however, the desired backgrounds of board members have changed significantly.³³ As Allina heads in a more profit-driven direction, it is doing so led by fewer with direct healthcare experience and an increasing number of MBAs.

	1998	2023
Total Number of Board	25	22
Members (inc. ex-officio)		
Percentage of Board Members	72%	50%
with Healthcare Experience		
Percentage of Board Members	56%	18%
with Direct Care Experience		
Percentage of Physician Board	48%	5%
Members		
Percentage of Board Members	36%	55%
with FIRE Experience		

Table 1. Composition of Allina Health System's Board

Source: Analysis of Allina Bond Disclosures

Piper Sandler and Minnesota Healthcare

Originally formed in 1895 to help finance the growth of the local booming milling and grainelevator businesses,³⁴ the firm now known as Piper Sandler played an integral role in helping to finance major Minnesota-based companies including Honeywell, 3M, and Greyhound.³⁵ Piper grew for its first hundred years until it was purchased for \$730 million by another Minnesota giant – U.S. Bancorp.³⁶ Five years later, Piper was spun off as an independent public company, Piper Jaffray.³⁷ Today Piper Sandler boasts 60+ offices in the United States, Europe, and Asia and promises "deep expertise" across sectors.³⁸

A family business with big ambitions, Piper built a reputation as an elite institution whose influence extended beyond its clients. As one *Star Tribune* reporter wrote in 1994:

"It is difficult, if not impossible, to separate Piper from the social and cultural fabric of the Twin Cities. The firm was one of the first to commit 5 percent of its pretax earnings to charity. The Piper family has a long history of giving, and the firm's top executives help guide some of the region's best-known charitable and nonprofit institutions ... The pedigree of Piper Jaffray's top executives rivals that of any corporation in the region. They include alumni of Dartmouth, Wharton, Yale, Stanford, Carleton and St. Olaf. Country club memberships include old-monied Woodhill in Orono, where the Pillsburys, MacMillans and Daytons record their handicaps along with [then CEO and chairman] Tad Piper...³⁹

Though longtime Piper CEO, Harry (Bobby) Piper Jr., once said, "With wealth comes responsibility … So many people don't realize that, or they don't give a rip," Piper came under fire by investors and regulators in the mid-1990s when "controversial" Piper-managed mutual funds tanked, and 7,000 clients saw losses of 25 percent or more.⁴⁰ Major clients at the time who faced financial consequences of Piper's decisions included the Minnesota Orchestra, the University of Minnesota, and Allina Health.⁴¹

The Minnesota investment bank is connected to local healthcare in at least three ways. First, Piper offers financial and advisory services to healthcare clients, including services related to mergers and acquisitions.⁴² Healthcare mergers and acquisitions ("M&A") are big business,⁴³ however, such deals are increasingly controversial and have spurred regulatory action and legislation as elected officials and community groups have called into question whether these deals serve the public interest.⁴⁴

Second, Piper executives have a strong presence on the boards of influential businesses, foundations, educational institutions, and industry lobbying groups. Here are just a few examples:

- **Debbra L. Schoneman**, President, serves on the board of trustees for the University of St. Thomas, whose Bachelor of Science in Nursing (BSN) program will graduate its first class in 2026.⁴⁵ As detailed below, Schoneman also serves as chair of Allina's board with Piper Sandler board member Tom Schreier.
- **Chad Abraham**, Chairman & CEO, is on the board of directors of the Minnesota Business Partnership, a powerful advocacy group representing over 100 top executives, including leaders of all of Minnesota's Fortune 500 companies. The Partnership has opposed efforts to make corporate finances and tax bills more transparent, paid family and medical leave, and campaign finance reform.⁴⁶ Abraham also serves as a trustee of the prestigious Blake School, whose alumni include politicians, business, and community leaders.⁴⁷
- **J.P. Peltier**, Global Head of Healthcare, is an executive committee member of Medical Alley, Minnesota's medical tech trade group.⁴⁸

The third area is Piper's role as an important intermediary in the municipal bond issuance industry where the company serves as a financial advisor to municipalities and private employers.⁴⁹ Piper has been involved in this market since the mid-1920s, a prescient strategy given that the "muni" market grew in the mid-1930s with federal investment in public works projects.⁵⁰ The company often serves as a bond underwriter, where it purchases bonds directly from a bond issuer and resells them to investors, pocketing the difference.⁵¹ The company purports to be a "leading adviser in the healthcare industry for decades serving clients through capital advisory services, underwriting and award-winning research," with the Piper name appearing as an underwriter for tax-exempt hospital bonds in Minnesota dating back to the early 1980s.⁵²

Given that Minnesota is an enormous market for healthcare, it is unsurprising Piper has done business with multiple local health systems. In early 2024, Piper and J.P. Morgan underwrote \$500 million in bonds for HealthPartners, earning a collective \$2.375 million in the process.⁵³ In 2020, the companies also underwrote \$214 million in bonds for Children's Minnesota, earning \$1.35 million.⁵⁴ Piper has also underwritten over a billion dollars in bonds for Allina Health, which is detailed in the following section.

Piper is no stranger to controversy. Since 2000, Piper Sandler, its subsidiaries, and predecessors racked up more than \$53 million in regulatory fines, many of which were related to investor protections.⁵⁵ At times, these cases have related to the company's role in the municipal bond market, a key intersection with healthcare. In 2016, Piper agreed to pay nearly \$9.8 million to settle a class action lawsuit where state, local, and municipal governments alleged they were shortchanged due to price fixing in the municipal derivatives industry.⁵⁶ In addition, Piper has been fined and censured by both the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) and the Nasdaq Stock Market (NASDAQ).⁵⁷

Piper Sandler and Allina Health

Piper's influence over local healthcare can be best seen at Allina Health. Piper executives had strong representation on the board of HealthSpan, Allina's predecessor in 1993.⁵⁸ HealthSpan's board was chaired by Stanley R. Cowle, a retired EVP and Director of Administration at Piper Jaffray, and included CEO Addison "Tad" Piper. A family business for its first hundred years, Addison succeeded his father and grandfather as the company's top executive.⁵⁹ Tad's mother also served on Abbott's board⁶⁰ and the Virginia Piper Cancer Center was started in her honor following her death in 1988.⁶¹ Addison would go on to serve as an Abbott Northwestern board member and board chair between 1995 and 1997 as well as on the Allina board.⁶² Today Allina's board is chaired by a different Piper Sandler executive – **Debbra L. Schoneman** – and includes Piper board member and former investment banker **Tom Schreier**.⁶³

In the last two decades, Piper has served as the bond underwriter on eight bond issuances for Allina Health. Piper and other underwriters collectively earned over \$5 million on bonds totaling \$1.2 billion.

Issuance	Valuation	Piper Role	Underwriter Fees
Series 2023A/B ⁶⁴	\$363.0M	Underwriter	\$1.5M
Series 202165	\$167.8M	Underwriter	\$805.3K
Series 2019 ⁶⁶	\$68.2M	Underwriter	\$276.1K
Series 2017A ⁶⁷	\$78.5M	Underwriter	\$362.3K
Series 2009A-1 and 2009A-2 ⁶⁸	\$185.2M	Underwriter	\$1.6M
Series 2007B-2 ⁶⁹		Underwriter and remarketing agent for	
	\$43.5M	Series 2007B-2 Bonds	\$52.2K
Series 2007A ⁷⁰	\$132.0M	Underwriter	\$422.3K
Series 2007C-1 and 2007C-2 ⁷¹		Underwriter and	
	\$125.0M	broker-dealer	\$306.3K
Total	\$1.2B		\$5.2M

Table 2: Allina Health System Bonds with Piper Sandler (formerly Piper Jaffray) as Underwriter

Source: Allina Bond Disclosures

Piper executives sat on the board for the four most recent bond issuances, which paid bond underwriters \$2.9 million. Earlier issuances took place under boards whose members worked for Piper-connected companies. In 2007, three investment bankers sat on Allina's board: ⁷²

- Edson W. Spencer, General Partner at Affinity Capital. Affinity's President, B. Kristine Johnson, sat on Piper's board at the same time Spencer served as Allina's board chair.⁷³
- Mark Jordahl, Chief Investment Officer at U.S. Bancorp Asset Management.⁷⁴ Until just a few years earlier, Piper had been owned by U.S. Bancorp.⁷⁵ Following their separation, U.S. Bank and Piper continued to partner and, under a 2004 agreement, recommend each other's services to clients, including investment banking services.⁷⁶
- John Turner, Chairman at Hillcrest Capital Partners. Turner founded Hillcrest in 2004 with his son, Jeff, an ex-Piper executive.⁷⁷

Two years later when Allina issued 2009 bonds, the board included Mark Sheffert, Chairman and CEO of investment banking and management advisory firm, Manchester Companies.⁷⁸ As detailed in the next section, Piper is not the only influential for-profit company Allina and other health systems are entangled with.

Part II: The Growing Influence of FIRE in Minnesota Healthcare

The shifting composition of healthcare boards of directors is not merely of academic interest. As healthcare boards have been captured by FIRE executives, hospital systems have been increasingly subject to the influence of for-profit entities and venture capital firms. The dominance of boardrooms and c-suites by executives lacking bedside care backgrounds is likely related to the financialization of Minnesota healthcare. Who holds decision-making power in healthcare systems has very material effects on hospitals. Below are several case studies to demonstrate what healthcare looks like when under the direction of FIRE boards and executives.

Optum and UnitedHealth Group

Optum, Inc. is a division of UnitedHealth Group.⁷⁹ Both Optum and UnitedHealth are headquartered in Minnesota; Optum's headquarters is in Eden Prairie, and UnitedHealth's in Minnetonka, an affluent suburb of the Twin Cities.⁸⁰ UnitedHealth Group, Optum's parent company, is a multinational health insurance company.⁸¹ Optum was formed in 2011 by UnitedHealth Group and currently operates in diverse intersections with healthcare delivery, finance, and administration.⁸² It is difficult to overstate UnitedHealth's financial scale; in 2023, Forbes ranked UnitedHealth as the fourth-largest company in the United States based on revenue.⁸³ Apple, Amazon, and Walmart were the only companies with a higher revenue than UnitedHealth that year.⁸⁴

On February 1, 2024, Allina Health announced their plans to outsource approximately 2,000 of their Information Systems and Revenue Cycle Management employees to Optum Health.⁸⁵ The change in employment structure came as a shock. In the press release announcing this decision, Allina claimed that outsourcing workers would allow them to "streamline" their billing processes and incorporate technologies at Optum's disposal.⁸⁶ Optum recently formed a similar partnership with St. Louis-based SSM Health where administrative functions including revenue cycle management were outsourced to Optum.⁸⁷ This partnership began in 2022, though it unraveled just two years later in early 2024.⁸⁸ After outsourcing some 2,100 employees from SSM Health to Optum, the health system reverted to in-housing those positions "after the two organizations were not able to meet 'mutually agreed-upon expectations.'"⁸⁹

On February 27 of this year, *The Wall Street Journal* reported that the United States Justice Department (DOJ) opened an antitrust investigation into UnitedHealth Group.⁹⁰ Reports indicate that the probe is most concerned with UnitedHealth's effect on competition in markets it has a presence in, and "the relationship between UnitedHealth's insurance business, UnitedHealthcare, and Optum, its health services arm that includes doctor's offices."⁹¹ This is not the first time UnitedHealth has been the focus of the Justice Department: UnitedHealth's planned \$3.3 billion

acquisition of home-health company Amedisys is also under scrutiny from the DOJ.⁹² A private antitrust suit has been issued "by a California system called Emanate Health, alleging that [UnitedHealth] tried to strong-arm the nonprofit over its affiliated physician groups and exert control over primary-care doctors in its region."⁹³

The federal investigation concerns similar practices, according to *The Wall Street Journal*:

The new Justice Department inquiry [...] is partly examining Optum's acquisitions of doctor groups and how the ownership of physician and health-plan units affects competition, according to the people with knowledge of the matter. Investigators have asked whether UnitedHealthcare favored Optum-owned groups in its contracting practices, potentially squeezing rival physicians out of certain types of attractive payment arrangements. Investigators have also explored whether Optum's ownership of healthcare providers could present challenges to health insurers that are rivals of UnitedHealthcare.

These are not the first antitrust lawsuits leveled at UnitedHealth and Optum. Just two years ago, the Justice Department filed a suit to block the "\$13 billion acquisition of health-technology firm Change Healthcare Inc., arguing the tie-up would unlawfully reduce competition in markets for commercial insurance and the processing of claims."⁹⁵ Part of the DOJ's argument was that "Change provided key industry technologies that are relied upon by UnitedHealth's health-insurance rivals."⁹⁶ These suits were ultimately dropped, and Change Healthcare and UnitedHealth successfully merged in 2022. Just two years after this merger, Change Healthcare has become the subject of nearly fifty lawsuits over a massive security breach that occurred earlier this year.⁹⁷ A cyberattack took Change Healthcare's services offline, resulting in significant cashflow problems for their clients.⁹⁸ According to the U.S. House Committee on Energy and Commerce, "Change Healthcare is one of the largest health payment processing companies in the world. It acts as a clearing house for 15 billion medical claims each year—accounting for nearly 40 percent of all claims."⁹⁹ In addition to this disruption in services, "millions of Americans may have had their sensitive health information leaked onto the dark web."¹⁰⁰

Healthcare providers involved in lawsuits against Change Healthcare and UnitedHealth regarding the handling of the cyberattack allege that disruption to payment services threatens their financial health and that UnitedHealth did not do enough to prevent the attack from happening.¹⁰¹ UnitedHealth CEO admitted that the computer server accessed by hackers in the cyberattack lacked the "basic" form of security known as multifactor authentication.¹⁰² While the Change Healthcare outage has been felt nationally, Optum's local partner Allina Health has acknowledged the difficulties it is causing them by forcing them to use "manual workarounds to help patients with their insurance coverage and authorization" and even then "experiencing a gap in our ability to bill for most of our hospital services."¹⁰³

Most recently, UnitedHealth's priorities became apparent when the company sued Minnesota over a law banning for-profit Medicaid managed-care providers from participating in the state's Medicaid program.¹⁰⁴ Even with the existing ban, Minnesota hospitals and insurers are almost singularly focused on revenue generation.

Huron Consulting Group

Huron Consulting Group, a management consulting firm based in Chicago, operates on an international scale and boasts over \$1.3 billion in current assets.¹⁰⁵ Huron describes its business as a "global professional services firm that partners with clients to develop growth strategies, optimize operations and accelerate digital transformation, including using an enterprise portfolio of technology, data and analytics solutions."¹⁰⁶ Huron considers the three dominant industry segments it operates in to be healthcare, education, and commercial.¹⁰⁷

Huron's education consulting arm has garnered a reputation for guiding teaching administrations through austerity-driven layoffs. In 2020, the administration at The New School in New York City spent hundreds of thousands of dollars to contract with Huron for consulting services.¹⁰⁸ Five months after school administration hired Huron, 122 school employees were laid off.¹⁰⁹ In response, members of The New School staff highlighted Huron's suspect origins: "[Huron] was established in 2002 by 25 former executives of Arthur Andersen, an accounting agency that went under in 2001—02. The agency had been cooking the books for the energy giant Enron."¹¹⁰ Enron's profound and spectacular misdeeds are beyond the scope of the present analysis. The New School faculty highlighted perhaps the most germane similarities between Andersen/Enron and Huron; "[u]sing 'mark-to-market' (MTM) accounting, Enron was able to claim *prospective* future profits and list them on its *current* balance sheet, wildly and fraudulently inflating the company's value [...] It didn't take long for Huron to follow in the footsteps of its corrupt creators. In 2009, Huron became embroiled in its own scandal, accused of overstating pretax income from 2005 to early 2009. The consulting firm ended up having to pay out millions of dollars, between a civil fine and reparations of shareholders."¹¹¹

Allina Health has contracted with Huron Consulting at least as far back as April 2023, when they were engaged to achieve key performance initiatives.¹¹² While aspects of this work such as "optimizing patient flow" and reviewing "corporate overhead" are inarguably noble, this initiative is anything but patient-focused. Partnering with Huron, Allina has recently undergone aggressive staffing "benchmarking" across its facilities, with a stated ambition of staffing their units at the 40th percentile based on national comparisons. Nurses and other healthcare workers at Allina facilities held informational pickets last October to draw attention to Allina's aggressive benchmarking plans, citing concerns over a race to the bottom in quality patient care.¹¹³

Flare Capital Partners

Compared to the rest of the United States, Minnesota's healthcare ecosystem is arguably unique in its limited entanglement with private equity and venture capital. Even still, many Minnesotans struggle to access or afford healthcare, and frontline workers caring for patients cite chronic short-staffing, and profit-over-patients approaches in facilities. Minnesota's healthcare has significant room for improvement, especially as for-profit and venture capital interests are increasing their foothold in the state.

One example is Inbound Health, a joint venture between Allina Health and the investment firm Flare Capital Partners, which offers controversial hospital-at-home and skilled nursing-at-home programs.¹¹⁴ Advocates allege that under these programs, patients who would otherwise be admitted to an acute-care, inpatient setting with continuous proximity to healthcare professionals

and emergency response capabilities, become reliant upon family members and community emergency response, therefore placing them at greater risk.¹¹⁵ The appeal of hospital-at-home to healthcare executives is straightforward: it reduces their overhead expenditure on the brick-and-mortar infrastructure of hospitals as the caregiving environment shifts to patients' homes, and arguably reduces staffing costs as some elements of care are performed remotely while others that would normally fall under the responsibilities of nurse aides are now performed gratis by family members.¹¹⁶

For the Boston-based Flare Capital Management Co LLC, their Inbound Health venture with Allina is just one of fifty-two enterprises they advertise in their portfolio.¹¹⁷ As such, their commitment to the project and patients' lives could come into question should Flare change course.

Part III: Corporate Healthcare Does Not Work

As Allina Health has surrendered greater control to for-profit companies like Piper Sandler, UnitedHealth Group, Huron, and Flare Capital Partners, they have become less accountable to their community and more beholden to the market and the financial executives who sit on the board. Though funded in large part by Minnesotan taxpayers, health systems are now burdened by the voices and interests of attorneys, bankers, investors, real estate owners, and self-proclaimed 'disruptors.' Despite their stated intent to improve health care and less explicit goal of increasing profitability, these efforts have only made Allina more vulnerable and a more desirable target for private equity firms, large, for-profit firms, and so-called "vulture capitalists."

As described in the first section above, Allina has undergone several large-scale changes since its origins in the late 1990s. Part of this transformation is the composition of Allina's governing board. One measurable and arguably positive change is the increased gender diversity of Allina's board over the past 25 years. However, a less apparent shift is from a board primarily composed of individuals with direct patient care experience to a board where four out of every five board members have never cared for a patient. In contrast, the percentage of board members with ties to finance, insurance, real estate, and related industries ("FIRE") jumped during this period, from just over a third to over fifty percent.

This meaningful shift in board composition has been accompanied by massive inflation in Allina's long-term debt, currently \$1.7 billion as of March 31, 2024.¹¹⁸ While an increase in long-term debt is to be expected when a system grows (i.e., acquiring existing hospitals and assuming their debt promises), this is not obvious in the case of Allina, which has not seen an expansion in terms of the number of hospital beds.¹¹⁹ In fact, in recent years, Allina consolidated multiple hospitals under a single license and reduced services.¹²⁰ Allina is now obliged to spend more to pay down its debt while it engages in benchmarking to reduce the number of nurses and healthcare workers at the bedside. As described above, Piper Sandler executives sat on Allina's board as Allina engaged Piper and others to raise capital via the municipal bond market, which in turn increased the company's debt load.

Year	Fitch Bond Rating	Proportion of Board Seats Held by Women	Percentage of Board Members with Direct Patient Care Experience	Percentage of Board Members with Experience in FIRE Industries	Number of Wholly- Owned Hospitals ¹²¹	Long-Term Debt
2023	AA-	59.1%	18.2%	54.5%	9	\$1.7B
2018	AA-	28.6%	14.3%	57.1%	11	\$920.9M
2013	AA-	27.8%	11.1%	33.3%	11	\$614.8M
2008	А	44.4%	16.7%	27.8%	10	\$645.6M
2003	A-	28.0%	40.0%	36.0%	10	N/A
1998	AAA	28.0%	56.0%	36.0%	11	\$369.4M

Table 3: Allina Health System Composition, Financial Metrics, and Board Composition, 1998 – 2023

Source: Analysis of Allina Bond Disclosures, Company Website, and IRS Form 990s

Bond ratings agencies have not viewed Allina's transformation in an overwhelmingly positive manner. Since 1998, Fitch's rating dropped from AAA,¹²² the agency's strongest rating, down to AA-as of 2023.¹²³ The most recent downgrade noted Allina's anticipated two-billion-dollar capital spending plans,¹²⁴ potentially a priority of the Piper-led board whose members may care more about flashy buildings and less about further burdens to the system.

A closer look at a similar period demonstrates changing priorities at Allina, including a growing appetite for spending hospital dollars on expensive contract labor and management. As the percentage of board members with experience in FIRE industries increased from under a third in 2012 to nearly sixty percent in 2022, labor costs for contracted employees hired to provide direct patient care (e.g., Registered Nurses, Licensed Professional Nurses, etc.) rose by over two thousand percent.¹²⁵ Whereas these contract staff comprised just one percent of the total direct patient care labor cost in 2012, ten years later they represented nearly fourteen percent.¹²⁶ In 2022, Allina spent nearly \$27 million to combat a nursing strike,¹²⁷ and that year, the company's highest-paid independent contractor, Aya Healthcare, received \$176,749,782.¹²⁸ In this process, Allina has not forgotten management. Labor costs for the management and administrative employees who do not provide patient care increased by twelve percent.¹²⁹

Year	Proportion of Board Seats Held by Women	Percentage of Board Members with Direct Patient Care Experience	Percentage of Board Members with Experience in FIRE Industries	Direct Patient Care Contracted Labor Cost	Management and Administrative Labor Cost	Direct Patient Care Contracted Labor as a % of Direct Patient Care Labor Cost
2022	50.0%	13.6%	59.1%	\$156,204,965	\$110,857,942	13.9%
2012	33.3%	11.1%	27.8%	\$7,390,555	\$99,257,924	1.0%

Table 4: Allina Health System Financial Metrics and Board Composition, 2012 vs. 2022

Source: Analysis of Allina Bond Disclosures, IRS Form 990s, and Medicare Cost Reports

Ultimately those with decision-making power seem out of touch with Allina's frontline workers and the organization's own messaging to the community. While Allina publicly represents that its mission is to "put the patient first,"¹³⁰ the company has consistently shown otherwise, by cutting off services to patients who had at least \$4,500 in outstanding bills as late as June 2023,¹³¹ reducing access to services,¹³² and reducing staffing of frontline workers.¹³³ Even by many key business metrics, Allina has failed – the organization's bond rating, long-term debt, and spending on expensive contract labor have consistently trended in the wrong direction. It is unclear who benefits from Allina's continued path, however, it is certainly not patients.

Conclusion

Minnesota is nationally recognized as an oasis of healthcare. As the largest employing industry, healthcare is a significant contributor to the state's economy.¹³⁴ In many circumstances, accessing care is a matter of life and death. For those called to work in healthcare, the industry has historically offered stable and meaningful careers, however, in recent years, this has come under attack.

As one of the largest systems in Minnesota, the decisions Allina Health makes are consequential to millions throughout the state. Allina does not seem eager to publicize their deep ties with partners in the financial sector, such as hometown investment bank Piper Sandler. Today, Allina's board is led by Piper executive Debbra Schoneman. Piper's fingerprints can be found throughout Minnesota's most influential businesses and educational and charitable institutions.

Minnesota healthcare has become increasingly financialized, as profit-driven boards and executives have welcomed "technological disruptors" such as venture capital firms to use our hospitals as their playgrounds and piggybanks. While patients and bedside workers deserve the largest say in what Minnesota healthcare looks like, their voices compete in the boardrooms with the interests of multinational Fortune 500 company UnitedHealth, Boston-based venture capital firm Flare, and Chicago-based consulting firm Huron, among others.

MNA's investigation of Allina's board composition and performance over the past two decades reveals that as experience at the bedside became a less crucial qualification to run a healthcare organization, key business metrics have trended in the wrong direction and Allina has become more vulnerable to profiteers.

Patients and healthcare workers are not ready to surrender their healthcare, workplaces, and mission to profit-driven decision-makers. To realize Allina's self-identified goals of putting patients first, Minnesotans must wrestle control away from executives and board members playing games with our healthcare. In the current landscape, according to one study, hospital CEOs are rewarded more for initiatives that suggest innovation and improved patient satisfaction, more so than the actual quality of care.¹³⁵ When executives are focused more on improving their reputation in the short term to catapult them to their next position, patients and healthcare workers are left with the consequences of their decisions. Restoring Allina's board to be comprised of largely bedside workers may provide a more long-term orientation and a realignment of priorities, away from short-sighted initiatives or vanity projects and towards actual improvement of patient care and access to services.

Endnotes

¹ Barbra Mann Wall, "History of Hospitals," Penn Nursing, n.d., <u>https://www.nursing.upenn.edu/nhhc/nurses-institutions-caring/history-of-hospitals/;</u> Brent D. Fulton et al., "The Rise of Cross-Market Hospital Systems And Their Market Power In The US," *Health Affairs* 41, no. 11 (November 2022): 1652–60, <u>https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2022.00337</u>.

² The Office of the Attorney General, Keith Ellison, "Attorney General Ellison Protects Minnesotans from Unfair Billing and Collections with Extension of Hospital Agreement," The Office of the Attorney General, Keith Ellison, July 27, 2021,

https://www.ag.state.mn.us/Office/Communications/2022/07/27_HospitalAgreement.asp.

³ Minnesota Department of Health, "Health Care Spending, Prices, and Utilization in Minnesota: 2017 to 2021" (Minnesota Department of Health, December 2023),

https://www.health.state.mn.us/data/economics/docs/spendingrpt2017to2021.pdf; Minnesota Department of Health, "Health Care Spending, Prices, and Utilization in Minnesota: 2017 to 2021" (Minnesota Department of Health, December 2023),

https://www.health.state.mn.us/data/economics/docs/spendingrpt2017to2021.pdf.

⁴ Minnesota Department of Health, "Minnesota Health Care Spending: 2020 Estimates and Ten-Year Projections" (Minnesota Department of Health, February 2023),

https://www.health.state.mn.us/data/economics/docs/2020spendingrpt.pdf.

⁵ Minnesota Department of Health, "Section 1: Minnesota Health Care Spending and Cost Drivers - Chart Summaries - MN Dept. of Health," Minnesota Department of Health, September 22, 2023,

https://www.health.state.mn.us/data/economics/chartbook/summaries/section1summaries.html.

⁶ Christopher Snowbeck, "North Memorial Laying off 103 Workers, Cutting Outpatient Mental Health in Robbinsdale," *Star Tribune*, March 20, 2024, <u>https://www.startribune.com/north-memorial-laying-off-103-</u> <u>workers-cutting-outpatient-mental-health-in-robbinsdale/600352627</u>; Jeremy Olson, "Doctors, Nurses Speak out against Allina's Closure of Intensive Care Unit at Unity Hospital," *Star Tribune*, March 24, 2024, <u>https://www.startribune.com/doctors-nurses-speak-out-against-allinas-closure-of-intensive-care-unit-at-</u> <u>unity-hospital/600353690</u>; Jeremy Olson, "Under New Law, Hospitals Face Fines If They Don't Alert Minnesotans of Closures, Reduced Care," *Star Tribune*, August 8, 2024,

https://www.startribune.com/hospital-closures-reduced-care-access-notification-rules-fines/600965344; Jeremy Olson, "Fairview Cuts Include Bethesda, St. Joseph's Hospitals; 900 Jobs to Be Lost," *Star Tribune*, October 6, 2020, https://www.startribune.com/fairview-cuts-will-include-two-hospitals-affect-900jobs/572641022/; Frederick Melo, "St. Joseph's Hospital Signage Comes Down, Fairview's Center for

Community Health Equity Launches," *Pioneer Press*, June 23, 2022,

https://www.twincities.com/2022/06/23/st-josephs-hospital-signage-comes-down-fairview-center-forcommunity-health-and-equity/; Minnesota Nurses Association, "Healthcare at a Crossroads: An Examination of the Proposed Fairview-Sanford Merger" (Minnesota Nurses Association, February 21, 2023), https://issuu.com/mnnurses/docs/healthcare_at_a_crossroads_v2.

⁷ Daniel R. Arnold et al., "New Evidence on the Impacts of Cross-Market Hospital Mergers on Commercial Prices and Measures of Quality," *Health Services Research*, April 23, 2024, 1–13, <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6773.14291</u>.

⁸ Piper Sandler Companies, "Form 10-K For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2023" (Piper Sandler Companies, February 26, 2024),

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1230245/000123024524000038/pipr-20231231.htm.

⁹ Jeremy Olson, "Doctors, Nurses Speak out against Allina's Closure of Intensive Care Unit at Unity Hospital," *Star Tribune*, March 24, 2024, <u>https://www.startribune.com/doctors-nurses-speak-out-against-allinas-</u> closure-of-intensive-care-unit-at-unity-hospital/600353690.

¹⁰ Christopher Snowbeck, "Allina Health Sees Income Grow with Expense Control," *Star Tribune*, May 19, 2021, <u>https://www.startribune.com/allina-health-sees-income-grow-with-expense-control/600059005/</u>.

¹¹ Allina Health System and KPMG LLP, "Consolidated Financial Statements - December 31, 2022 and 2021 (With Independent Auditors' Reports Thereon)" (Allina Health System, December 31, 2022), <u>https://emma.msrb.org/P21677841-P21291166-P21721071.pdf#page=6</u>.

¹² Sarah Kliff and Jessica Silver-Greenberg, "This Nonprofit Health System Cuts Off Patients With Medical Debt," *The New York Times*, June 1, 2023, sec. Business,

https://www.nytimes.com/2023/06/01/business/allina-health-hospital-debt.html.

¹³ Allina Health System, "Quarterly Financial Disclosure Statement: Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2023" (Allina Health System, March 2024), <u>https://emma.msrb.org/P21775009-P21362644-P21800343.pdf</u>.
 ¹⁴ Ibid; Allina Health System, "Official Statement: City of Minneapolis, Minnesota Healthcare System Revenue Bonds, Series 2023A/Series 2023B" (Allina Health System, May 2, 2023), <u>https://emma.msrb.org/P21701059-P21308582-P21740164.pdf</u>.

¹⁵ Allina Health System, "About Us," n.d., <u>https://www.allinahealth.org/about-us</u>.

¹⁶ Allina Health System, "Quarterly Financial Disclosure Statement: Twelve Months Ended December 31,
 2023" (Allina Health System, March 2024), <u>https://emma.msrb.org/P21775009-P21362644-P21800343.pdf</u>.
 ¹⁷ Analysis of Minnesota Department of Health "Patient Days" dataset. See

https://www.health.state.mn.us/data/economics/hccis/data/stndrdrpts.html.

¹⁸ Minnesota Department of Employment and Economic Development, "Minnesota Top Companies and Employers," Minnesota Department of Employment and Economic Development, accessed April 24, 2024, <u>https://mn.gov/deed/data/economic-analysis/top-companies/</u>.

¹⁹ Allina Health System, "Attachment B: Background on Allina and United Hospital" (Allina Health System, n.d.), <u>https://stpaul.granicus.com/MetaViewer.php?view_id=40&clip_id=551&meta_id=26470</u>.

²⁰ Glenn Howatt, "Public Hearing May Be Last Word in Review of HealthSpan Merger; Health Department Wants Details on Cost Savings," *Star Tribune*, April 6, 1994, Metro edition, sec. Marketplace; Glenn Howatt, "State Officials Quiz HealthSpan," May 24, 1994, Metro edition, sec. Marketplace.

²¹ Glenn Howatt, "Public Hearing May Be Last Word in Review of HealthSpan Merger; Health Department Wants Details on Cost Savings," *Star Tribune*, April 6, 1994, Metro edition, sec. Marketplace.

²² Allina Health System, "Attachment B: Background on Allina and United Hospital" (Allina Health System, n.d.), <u>https://stpaul.granicus.com/MetaViewer.php?view_id=40&clip_id=551&meta_id=26470</u>.

²³ Glenn Howatt, "Medica Merging with HealthSpan to Become Allina," *Star Tribune*, December 8, 1993, Metro edition, sec. News.

²⁴ Tom Majeski, "Allina's \$16 Million Settlement Accepted; Company Allegedly Overbilled Programs," *St. Paul Pioneer Press*, January 15, 2002, City edition, sec. Local.

²⁵ Paul McEnroe, Josephine Marcotty, and Glenn Howatt, "Hatch Attacks Allina Perks; Company Defends Its Golf Trips, Gifts, Exec Benefits - Correction Appended," *Star Tribune*, March 22, 2001, sec. News.

²⁶ "Struggling Allina Health Can't Even Buy Good News," *Modern Healthcare*, July 30, 2001.

²⁷ Steve Karnowski, "Allina Health System Breaking into Two Companies," *The Associated Press State & Local Wire*, July 20, 2001, sec. State and Regional.

²⁸ Suhas Gondi, Sanjay Kishore, and J. Michael McWilliams, "Professional Backgrounds of Board Members at Top-Ranked US Hospitals," *Journal of General Internal Medicine* 38, no. 10 (August 1, 2023): 2428–30, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-023-08056-z</u>.

²⁹ Ibid.

³⁰ Defined broadly to also include individuals with legal, regulatory, or financial experience relating to providers, health insurance, and medical device companies.

³¹ Categories do not add up to 100% as they are not mutually exclusive.

³² Allina Health System, "Official Statement: City of Minneapolis, Minnesota and Housing and Redevelopment Authority of the City of Saint Paul, Minnesota Variable Rate Demand Revenue Bonds (Allina Health System) Series 1998A" (Allina Health System, September 29, 1998), <u>https://emma.msrb.org/MS149193-MS124501-</u> MD241395.pdf.

³³ Allina Health System, "Official Statement: City of Minneapolis, Minnesota and Housing and Redevelopment Authority of the City of Saint Paul, Minnesota Variable Rate Demand Revenue Bonds (Allina Health System) Series 1998A" (Allina Health System, September 29, 1998), <u>https://emma.msrb.org/MS149193-MS124501-</u> MD241395.pdf; Allina Health System, "Return of Organization Exempt From Income Tax For the 2022 Calendar Year, or Tax Year Beginning 01-01-2022, and Ending 12-31-2022," (filed November 10, 2023), https://projects.propublica.org/nonprofits/organizations/363261413/202313149349304286/full.

³⁴ Patrick Kennedy, "Jaffray Will Soon Disappear from the Piper Jaffray Name," *Star Tribune*, July 9, 2019, https://www.startribune.com/jaffray-will-soon-disappear-from-the-piper-jaffray-name/512475932/.

³⁵ Paul S. Bodine, "Piper Jaffray Companies Inc.," in *Encyclopedia.com*, International Directory of Company Histories (Cengage Group, n.d.), <u>https://www.encyclopedia.com/books/politics-and-business-magazines/piper-jaffray-companies-inc</u>.

³⁶ Ibid; Patrick Kennedy, "Jaffray Will Soon Disappear from the Piper Jaffray Name," *Star Tribune*, July 9, 2019, https://www.startribune.com/jaffray-will-soon-disappear-from-the-piper-jaffray-name/512475932/.
 ³⁷ Ibid.

³⁸ Piper Sandler Companies, "Firm Overview," Piper Sandler, n.d.,

https://www.pipersandler.com/sites/default/files/document/Corporate_Overview.pdf.

³⁹ David Phelps, "Backfired Strategy Tarnishes Piper's Shining Reputation," *Star Tribune*, October 10, 1994, Metro edition, sec. News.

⁴⁰ Ibid, Robert Franklin, "\$15 Million from Harry Piper Estate Committed to Social Services Fund," *Star Tribune*, March 13, 1992, Metro edition, sec. News.

⁴¹ David Phelps, "Backfired Strategy Tarnishes Piper's Shining Reputation," *Star Tribune*, October 10, 1994, Metro edition, sec. News.

⁴² Piper Sandler Companies, "Firm Overview," Piper Sandler, n.d.,

<u>https://www.pipersandler.com/sites/default/files/document/Corporate_Overview.pdf;</u> For a list of recent transactions, see Piper Sandler Companies, "Investment Banking Transactions," Piper Sandler, n.d., <u>https://www.pipersandler.com/investment-banking-transactions?page=1§ors=518</u>.

⁴³ Dave Muoio, "High Volume, High Value Hospital Transactions Kick off 2024," *Fierce Healthcare*, April 11, 2024, <u>https://www.fiercehealthcare.com/providers/high-volume-high-value-hospital-transactions-kick-2024</u>.
 ⁴⁴ Anna Claire Vollers, "Facing Public Backlash, Some Health Care Companies Are Abandoning Hospital Deals," *Stateline*, March 11, 2024, <u>https://stateline.org/2024/03/11/facing-public-backlash-some-health-care-companies-are-abandoning-hospital-deals/.
</u>

⁴⁵ University of St. Thomas, "Board of Trustees," University of St. Thomas, n.d.,

https://www.stthomas.edu/about/board-of-trustees/index.html; Abraham Swee, "School of Nursing Hosts Pinning Ceremony for First Tommie Nurses," University of St. Thomas, May 24, 2024,

https://news.stthomas.edu/school-of-nursing-hosts-pinning-ceremony-for-first-tommie-nurses/. ⁴⁶ Minnesota Business Partnership, "Our Members," Minnesota Business Partnership, n.d.,

https://www.mnbp.com/members/; Michelle Griffith, "Corporate Lobby Group Announces Former House Speaker as next CEO; Minnesota Reformer," *Minnesota Reformer*, August 2, 2023,

https://minnesotareformer.com/briefs/corporate-lobby-group-announces-former-house-speaker-as-nextceo/; Michelle Griffith, "Federal Judge Suspends New Minnesota Campaign Finance Law Set to Take Effect Jan. 1; Minnesota Reformer," *Minnesota Reformer*, December 21, 2023,

https://minnesotareformer.com/briefs/federal-judge-suspends-new-minnesota-campaign-finance-law-setto-take-effect-jan-1/; Michelle Griffith, "DFL Lawmakers to Big Corporations: Show Us Your Tax Returns; Minnesota Reformer," *Minnesota Reformer*, March 6, 2024, <u>https://minnesotareformer.com/2024/03/06/dfl-lawmakers-to-big-corporations-show-us-your-tax-returns/</u>.

⁴⁷ Blake School, Return of Organization Exempt From Income Tax for the 2022 Calendar Year, or Tax Year Beginning 07-01-2022, and Ending 06-30-2023, (filed January 30, 2024),

https://projects.propublica.org/nonprofits/organizations/237243247/202400329349301300/full; Blake School, "Outstanding Alumni Award Recipients," Blake School, n.d.,

https://www.blakeschool.org/myblake/alumni/alumni-awards/outstanding-alumni-award-recipients. ⁴⁸ Joe Carlson, "Med-Tech Group Returns to Medical Alley Roots," *Star Tribune*, January 5, 2016,

https://www.startribune.com/med-tech-group-returns-to-medical-alley-roots/364196401/; Medical Alley,

"Our Board of Directors," Medical Alley, n.d., <u>https://medicalalley.org/board-of-directors/</u>.

⁴⁹ Piper Sandler Companies, "Firm Overview," Piper Sandler, n.d.,

https://www.pipersandler.com/sites/default/files/document/Corporate_Overview.pdf.

⁵⁰ Paul S. Bodine, "Piper Jaffray Companies Inc.," in *Encyclopedia.com*, International Directory of Company Histories (Cengage Group, n.d.), https://www.encyclopedia.com/books/politics-and-businessmagazines/piper-jaffray-companies-inc.

⁵¹ Russell L. Goings, III, "Role of the Underwriter in the Municipal Marketplace," https://www.treasurer.ca.gov/cdiac/seminars/2008/20081002/2c.pdf.

⁵² George R. Yacik, "Hospital Volume Soars to Record \$5 Billion," *The Bond Buyer*, January 20, 1982.

⁵³ HealthPartners Obligated Group, "Official Statement: Minnesota Agricultural and Economic Development Board Health Care Facilities Revenue Bonds (HealthPartners Obligated Group), Series 2024" (HealthPartners Obligated Group, HealthPartners Obligated Group), https://emma.msrb.org/P11723393-P11324654-P11758150.pdf.

⁵⁴ Children's Health Care, "Offering Memorandum: Children's Health Care Taxable Bonds Series 2020" (Children's Health Care, January 8, 2020), https://us-east-1.storage.lumen.com/dac-prod-bucket-dacbonddynamic/0000bbc7/80/1f/64/9d.pdf?response-content-disposition=inline&response-contenttype=application%2Fpdf&X-Amz-Algorithm=AWS4-HMAC-SHA256&X-Amz-Date=20240528T202640Z&X-Amz-SignedHeaders=host&X-Amz-Expires=600&X-Amz-

Credential=CZNGIHBRBY6T0MIJMPRZ%2F20240528%2Fus-east-1%2Fs3%2Faws4_request&X-Amz-Signature=30b1617e61c88b201bee51fcfecfb2b85eef27864960eccf7f0fe01c9a349dc9.

⁵⁵ Good Jobs First, "Piper Sandler | Violation Tracker," Good Jobs First, n.d.,

https://violationtracker.goodjobsfirst.org/?parent=piper-sandler&order=pen_year&sort=.

⁵⁶ The Brattle Group, Inc., "In Re: Municipal Derivatives Antitrust Litigation," Brattle, n.d.,

https://www.brattle.com/work/in-re-municipal-derivatives-antitrust-litigation/; Piper Jaffray Companies, "Form 10-Q For the Quarterly Period Ended March 31, 2016" (Piper Jaffray Companies, May 4, 2016), https://www.pipersandler.com/sites/default/files/document/PJC%20Q1%202016%2010O%20--%20FINAL%20%28filed%2005.04.2016%29.pdf.

⁵⁷ The Nasdag Stock Market LLC, "The Nasdag Stock Market LLC Letter of Acceptance, Waiver and Consent," August 4, 2021,

https://www.nasdaqtrader.com/content/marketregulation/NASDAQ/DisciplinaryActions/Piper Sandler NQ 2021.pdf; NYSE Arca, Inc., "NYSE Arca, Inc. Letter of Acceptance, Waiver, and Consent No. 2017055996903," July 20, 2021, https://www.nyse.com/publicdocs/nyse/markets/nyse-arca/disciplinary-

actions/2021/Piper_Sandler_NYSE_Arca_AWC_(final)M.pdf; NYSE American LLC, "NYSE American LLC Letter of Acceptance, Waiver, and Consent No. 2017055996904," July 20, 2021,

https://www.nyse.com/publicdocs/nyse/markets/nyse-american/disciplinary-

actions/2021/Piper Sandler NYSE American AWC (final)M.pdf.

⁵⁸ HealthSpan Health Systems Corporation, "City of Minneapolis, Minnesota and Housing Redevelopment Authority of the City of Saint Paul, Minnesota Health Care System Revenue Bonds (HealthSpan) Series 1993" (HealthSpan Health Systems Corporation, October 8, 1993), https://emma.msrb.org/MS6399-MS69740-MS625917.pdf.

⁵⁹ Patrick Kennedy, "Jaffray Will Soon Disappear from the Piper Jaffray Name," *Star Tribune*, July 9, 2019, https://www.startribune.com/jaffray-will-soon-disappear-from-the-piper-jaffray-name/512475932/.

⁶⁰ Robert Franklin, "\$15 Million from Harry Piper Estate Committed to Social Services Fund," Star Tribune, March 13, 1992, Metro edition, sec. News.

61 Ibid.

⁶² "Allina Hospitals & Clinics Launched with New Board of Directors," Press Release, PR Newswire, August 10, 2001.

⁶³ Allina Health System, "Allina Health Board of Directors," Allina Health, n.d.,

https://www.allinahealth.org/about-us/leadership/allina-health-board-of-directors; Piper Sandler Companies, "Tom Schreier," Piper Sandler, n.d., https://www.pipersandler.com/about/people/tom-schreier. ⁶⁴ Allina Health System, "Official Statement: City of Minneapolis, Minnesota Healthcare System Revenue Bonds, Series 2023A/Series 2023B" (Allina Health System, May 2, 2023), https://emma.msrb.org/P21701059-P21308582-P21740164.pdf.

⁶⁵ Allina Health System, "Official Statement: City of Minneapolis, Minnesota Health Care System Revenue Bonds, Series 2021 (Allina Health System)" (Allina Health System, November 4, 2021), https://emma.msrb.org/P21756272-P21166752-P21582057.pdf. 18

⁶⁶ Allina Health System, "City of Minneapolis and the Housing and Redevelopment Authority of the City of Saint Paul, Minnesota Health Care System Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2019 (Allina Health System)" (Allina Health System, October 8, 2019), https://emma.msrb.org/ES1311870-ES1025049-ES1426924.pdf. ⁶⁷ Allina Health System, "City of Minneapolis and the Housing and Redevelopment Authority of the City of Saint Paul, Minnesota Health Care System Revenue Refunding Bonds Series 2017A (Allina Health System)" (Allina Health System, March 30, 2017), https://emma.msrb.org/ER1046870-ER820192-ER1221245.pdf. ⁶⁸ Allina Health System, "City of Minneapolis and the Housing and Redevelopment Authority of the City of Saint Paul Minnesota Health Care System Revenue Bonds (Allina Health System)" (Allina Health System, November 3, 2009), https://emma.msrb.org/EP346196-EP46855-EP668887.pdf.

⁶⁹ Allina Health System, "City of Minneapolis and the Housing and Redevelopment Authority of the City of Saint Paul, Minnesota Health Care Variable Rate Demand Revenue Bonds (Allina Health System)" (Allina Health System, September 26, 2007), https://emma.msrb.org/MS264440-MS239748-MD467957.pdf. ⁷⁰ Allina Health System, "City of Minneapolis and the Housing and Redevelopment Authority of the City of Saint Paul, Minnesota Health Care System Revenue Bonds, Series 2007A (Allina Health System)" (Allina

Health System, October 5, 2007), https://emma.msrb.org/MS264424-MS239732-MD467925.pdf. ⁷¹ Allina Health System, "City of Minneapolis and the Housing and Redevelopment Authority of the City of Saint Paul, Minnesota Health Care System Revenue Bonds (Allina Health System) Auction Rate Securities" (Allina Health System, October 5, 2007), https://emma.msrb.org/MS264425-MS239733-MD467927.pdf. ⁷² Allina Health System, "City of Minneapolis and the Housing and Redevelopment Authority of the City of Saint Paul, Minnesota Health Care System Revenue Bonds, Series 2007A (Allina Health System)" (Allina

Health System, October 5, 2007), https://emma.msrb.org/MS264424-MS239732-MD467925.pdf. ⁷³ Ibid; Piper Jaffray Companies, "The 2007 Piper Jaffray Companies Annual Report" (Piper Jaffray Companies, 2008), https://www.annualreports.com/HostedData/AnnualReportArchive/p/NYSE_PJC_2007.pdf. ⁷⁴ Listed as CIO for FAF Advisors and First American Funds, which are advised by U.S. Bancorp Asset Management. See First American Funds, "Home Page," First American Funds, n.d., https://www.firstamericanfunds.com/index.html.

⁷⁵ Patrick Kennedy, "Jaffray Will Soon Disappear from the Piper Jaffray Name," Star Tribune, July 9, 2019, https://www.startribune.com/jaffray-will-soon-disappear-from-the-piper-jaffray-name/512475932/.

⁷⁶ U.S. Bancorp and Piper Jaffray Companies, "Exhibit 10.4: Business Alliance Agreement Dated as of December 23, 2003," in Form 10-K For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2004, by Piper Jaffray Companies, 2004, https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1230245/000095013404003083/c82510exv10w4.txt.

⁷⁷ Brad Meikle, "Father-Son Turner Team Gives Investing A Try Hillcrest Capital Is Born," *Buyouts*, July 8, 2002, https://www.buyoutsinsider.com/father-son-turner-team-gives-investing-a-try-hillcrest-capital-is-born/.

⁷⁸ Allina Health System, "City of Minneapolis and the Housing and Redevelopment Authority of the City of Saint Paul Minnesota Health Care System Revenue Bonds (Allina Health System)" (Allina Health System, November 3, 2009), https://emma.msrb.org/EP346196-EP46855-EP668887.pdf.

⁷⁹ UnitedHealth Group Incorporated, "Form 10-K for the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2023," February 28, 2024, https://www.unitedhealthgroup.com/content/dam/UHG/PDF/investors/2023/UNH-O4-2023-Form-10-K.pdf#page=4.

⁸⁰ Ibid; Optum, Inc., "About Optum," Optum, n.d., <u>https://www.optum.com/about-us.html</u>.

⁸¹ United HealthCare Services, Inc., "About Us," UHC, n.d., https://www.uhc.com/about-us.

⁸² UnitedHealth Group Incorporated, "Form 10-K for the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2023," February 28, 2024, https://www.unitedhealthgroup.com/content/dam/UHG/PDF/investors/2023/UNH-Q4-2023-Form-10-K.pdf#page=4.

⁸³ Fortune, "Fortune 500," Fortune, June 4, 2024, <u>https://fortune.com/ranking/fortune500/</u>. ⁸⁴ Ibid.

⁸⁵ Allina Health System, "Allina Health Announces Strategic Relationship to Enhance the Health Care Experience for Patients and Providers," Allina Health, February 1, 2024, https://www.allinahealth.org/aboutus/news-releases/2024/allina-health-announces-strategic-relationship-to-enhance-health-care-experience. ⁸⁶ Ibid.

⁸⁷ Jakob Emerson, "Why Optum, SSM Health Cut Ties," Becker's Hospital Review, February 9, 2024, https://www.beckershospitalreview.com/finance/why-optum-ssm-health-cut-ties.html.

¹¹³ Sarah Peterson, "Allina Hospital Nurses in Twin Cities Picket in Response to Proposed Staff Reductions, Closures," KSTP.com, October 26, 2023, https://kstp.com/kstp-news/top-news/allina-hospital-nurses-intwin-cities-to-picket-in-response-to-proposed-staff-reductions-closures/.

¹¹⁴ David Raths, "The Story Behind Allina Health's Spin-Out of Inbound Health," Healthcare Innovation, July 3, 2023, https://www.hcinnovationgroup.com/population-health-management/home-based-

care/article/53065112/the-story-behind-allina-healths-spin-out-of-inbound-health.

¹¹⁵ National Nurses United, "Medicare's Hospital At Home Program Is Dangerous for Patients," September 2022,

https://www.nationalnursesunited.org/sites/default/files/nnu/documents/0922_Medicare_HospitalAtHome_ Report.pdf.

¹¹⁶ Kat McGowan, "Hospital-at-Home' Trend Means Family Members Must Be Caregivers — Ready or Not." NPR, July 18, 2023, sec. Policy-ish, https://www.npr.org/sections/health-

shots/2023/07/18/1188058399/hospital-at-home-caregivers-family-stress; Nate Berg, "The \$1 Trillion Quest to Bring Hospital Care to Your Home," Fast Company, September 8, 2020,

https://www.fastcompany.com/90546914/the-1-trillion-quest-to-bring-hospital-care-to-your-home/.

¹¹⁷ Flare Capital Partners, "Portfolio," Flare Capital Partners, n.d., <u>https://www.flarecapital.com/portfolio</u>. ¹¹⁸ Allina Health System. "Ouarterly Financial Disclosure Statement: Three Months Ended March 31, 2024" (Allina Health System, May 15, 2024), https://emma.msrb.org/P21808470-P21387637-P21828078.pdf#page=25.

¹¹⁹ Analysis of hospital annual report data obtained from Minnesota Department of Health.

¹²⁰ Jeremy Olson, "Doctors, Nurses Speak out against Allina's Closure of Intensive Care Unit at Unity Hospital," Star Tribune, March 24, 2024, https://www.startribune.com/doctors-nurses-speak-out-againstallinas-closure-of-intensive-care-unit-at-unity-hospital/600353690.

¹²¹ Until 2019, Abbott Northwestern Hospital and Phillips Eye Institute operated under separate licenses. See "Inpatient Acute Care Beds at MN Community Hospitals, 2012 to 2020," available at https://www.health.state.mn.us/data/economics/chartbook/index.html.

¹²² Allina Health System, "Official Statement: City of Minneapolis, Minnesota and Housing and Redevelopment Authority of the City of Saint Paul, Minnesota Variable Rate Demand Revenue Bonds (Allina Health System) Series 1998A" (Allina Health System, September 29, 1998),

https://emma.msrb.org/MS149193-MS124501-MD241395.pdf#page=12.

¹²³ As of April 2024, Allina was downgraded again to A+. See Fitch Ratings, Inc., "Fitch Downgrades Allina Health System's (MN) Bonds LT Ratings to 'A+'; Outlook Stable," Rating Action Commentary (Fitch Ratings, Inc., April 17, 2024), https://emma.msrb.org/P21800298-P21381632-P21821443.pdf. ¹²⁴ Ibid.

¹²⁵ Analysis of bond disclosures, IRS Form 990s, and Medicare Cost Reports. For Cost Report data, see "Hospital Cost Tool," available at https://tool.nashp.org/.

¹²⁶ Ibid.

¹²⁷ Allina Health System and KPMG LLP. "Consolidated Financial Statements - December 31, 2022 and 2021 (With Independent Auditors' Reports Thereon)" (Allina Health System, December 31, 2022), https://emma.msrb.org/P21677841-P21291166-P21721071.pdf#page=6.

¹²⁸ See Section VII, Section B in Allina Health System, "Return of Organization Exempt From Income Tax For the 2022 Calendar Year, or Tax Year Beginning 01-01-2022, and Ending 12-31-2022," (filed November 10, 2023), https://projects.propublica.org/nonprofits/organizations/363261413/202313149349304286/full. ¹²⁹ Analysis of Medicare Cost Reports. See "Hospital Cost Tool," available at https://tool.nashp.org/.

¹³⁰ Allina Health System, "Allina Health Mission, Vision, Values and Promise," Allina Health System, n.d.,

https://www.allinahealth.org/-/media/allina-health/files/allina-health-mission-vision-values-promise.pdf. ¹³¹ Sarah Kliff and Jessica Silver-Greenberg, "This Nonprofit Health System Cuts Off Patients With Medical Debt," The New York Times, June 1, 2023, sec. Business,

https://www.nytimes.com/2023/06/01/business/allina-health-hospital-debt.html.

¹³² Jeremy Olson, "Doctors, Nurses Speak out against Allina's Closure of Intensive Care Unit at Unity Hospital," Star Tribune, March 24, 2024, https://www.startribune.com/doctors-nurses-speak-out-againstallinas-closure-of-intensive-care-unit-at-unity-hospital/600353690; Jeremy Olson, "Allina Sees Changes in Hospital Services in Minneapolis, Cambridge and Hastings," *Star Tribune*, June 6, 2022, sec. Local, 21

https://www.startribune.com/allina-sees-hospital-cutbacks-in-minneapolis-cambridge-and-hastings-asmove-forward/600179786.

¹³³ Ibid; Jordan Sansom, "Potential Layoffs Could Be Coming to Allina Health Owatonna Hospital," ABC 6 News - kaaltv.com, September 19, 2024, <u>https://www.kaaltv.com/news/potential-layoffs-could-be-coming-to-allina-health-owatonna-hospital/</u>.

¹³⁴ Minnesota Department of Employment and Economic Development, "Health Care & Social Assistance Industry Profile" (Minnesota Department of Employment and Economic Development, June 1, 2023), <u>https://mn.gov/deed/assets/060123_HealthCare_Update_tcm1045-595833.pdf</u>.

¹³⁵ Jordan Rau, "Pay For Hospital CEOs Linked More To Technology, Patient Satisfaction Than Quality, Study Finds," KFF Health News, October 14, 2013, <u>https://kffhealthnews.org/news/study-finds-ceo-pay-linked-to-technology-and-patient-satisfaction-not-quality/</u>.



April 5, 2025

Chair Bierman, Chair Backer and committee members,

I am a family physician who trained in Minnesota and practiced here for 30 years. I worked in a variety of medical settings, including non-profit sliding scale community clinics, a physician-owned private practice, a trade union clinic, and an investor-owned practice.

I write in **support** of the **Minnesota Health Care Accountability Act, HF 2779**. This is about my experience in an investor-owned clinic.

It was a new practice, a start-up, providing outpatient primary care for seniors. When I was recruited, I was assured that we would have ongoing training, as none of us hired there were specialized geriatricians. (There is a dire shortage of geriatricians.) We would have continuing medical education, expert chart reviews and routine case consults. We would have the option of longer visits for more complex patients.

However, as the months went on, the focus shifted. The number of patients we were scheduled to see each day increased. The time to spend with each one got shorter. And time in the schedule for education and learning and collaboration was eliminated. Leadership became less interested in supporting our clinical care and more interested in improving our coding of the important diagnoses that would increase billing revenue.

Most of our training from leadership was about entering diagnostic codes for high-priority (highly-reimbursed) diagnoses. Here are examples, taken from my notes from a staff training:

- a cognitive assessment can be its own visit. Can code a non-face-to-face encounter as part of a diagnostic assessment (3d prior or 7d after). If total interaction is >99 minutes, code 6212 (extra time).

- 3 kinds of Medicare preventive visits. Initial Preventive Physical exam, IPPE G0402, once in first 12 months. Annual Wellness Visit, Initial 12 mo *after* they get part B or 12 mo after IPPE, code G0438. AWV subsequent, 12 months later, G0439.

- You can bill for a cognitive assessment every 180 days (2x/yr).

- You can bill for smoking cessation counseling – different code for 3-10 minutes, or >10 minutes.

Is this what you want your doctor studying??

The organization hired more and more employees to deal with billing, technology, and administration, but not for patient care. Support staff would review outside charts before the patient's first visit to draw out important diagnostic codes, highlighting those most important for billing purposes. These staff increase healthcare costs, but do not improve patient outcomes, or actual care.

Clinicians became demoralized. In order to see more patients per day, lunch time was changed to unpaid, the work day was lengthened, and visit time with each patient was shortened. Some days I worked 14 hours. The start-up business had to satisfy investors by reaching various targets. To that end, growth was more of a priority than solid clinical practice - by which I mean quality patient care.

This is the reason I retired a year sooner than I intended to.

MN has a significant and growing shortage of primary care physicians. This kind of experience, where the business and profit concerns run the practice more than the medical care of the patient, is a major reason that physicians are retiring early and leaving practice.

Please pass the Health Care Accountability Act so that Minnesota can monitor and mitigate the effects of private equity and other investors in health care. Doctors want to focus not on finances but on taking care of patients.

Sincerely,

Cay hitters, MAH

Amy Gilbert, MD, MPH St. Paul, MN